STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Thomas W. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: **2023-001288**

RECEIVED

SEP 03 2024

SC Court of Appeals

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Steven Daniel Brown

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dayne C. Phillips, Esq.

SC Bar No. 77712
Price Benowitz LLP
1614 Taylor Street, Suite D
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 807-0234

Jason T. Yonge, Esq.

SC Bar No. 102869
WILLIAMS, STITELY, & BRINK, PC
PO Box 39
Lexington, SC 29071
(803) 359-9000

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO SUPPRESS THE DRUG EVIDENCE WHEN THE CONTINUED DETENTION OF APPELLANT EXCEEDED THE SCOPE OF THE TRAFFIC STOP BECAUSE THE OFFICER HAD ISSUED A WARNING TICKET AND DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE SUSPICION OF ILLEGAL ACTIVITY AND DID NOT HAVE APPELLANT'S CONSENT TO SEARCH THE VEHICLE.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL WHEN THE STATE'S FIRST WITNESS REFERENCED INADMISSIBLE PROPENSITY EVIDENCE, THE STATE PRESENTED INADMISSIBLE DRUG EVIDENCE TO THE JURY, AND THE TRIAL COURT EXCUSED A JUROR FOR WRITING "GUILTY" ON THEIR NOTEPAD DURING THE SECOND DAY OF TRIAL.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE STATE PROVIDED A SUFFICIENT CHAIN OF CUSTODY TO ADMIT A BOX CONTAINING DRUG EVIDENCE AS STATE'S EXHIBIT 7.
- IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL WHERE THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE UNFAIR PREJUDICE CREATED BY ALL THE ERRORS THAT OCCURRED DURING THE TRIAL DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 12, 2020, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Steven Brown, for Trafficking Methamphetamine, 400 grams or more. (R. 616).

On August 7–10, 2023, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Jr., and a jury. (R. 1–599). Robert “Theo” Williams, Esq., and Jason Yonge, Esq., represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitors Kelly Oppenheimer and Kyle Smith prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. The jury returned a guilty verdict on August 10, 2023. (R. 579, lines 22 – 24). The Trial Court sentenced Appellant to twenty-five (25) years imprisonment. (R. 594, line 22 – 598, line 1).

On August 11, 2023, Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. 620). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Background

On June 29, 2020, Trooper Jacob Atwood of the South Carolina Department of Public Safety (SCDPS) received a tip from John Gietz, an investigator with the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, about a vehicle suspected of transporting methamphetamine from Georgia to South Carolina. (R. 74–75).

Pre-trial, the Trial Court denied Appellant's motion to suppress the drug evidence seized after a traffic stop, canine sniff, and search of his vehicle. (R. 123–127; R. 602; R. 605).

During trial, the Trial Court overruled Appellant's objection to the admissibility of a sealed box based on the State's failure to establish a proper chain of custody. (R. 400–410). The Trial Court also denied Appellant's three motions for a mistrial based on separate errors that occurred during the trial. Specifically, the Trial Court denied the first motion for a mistrial based on the State's first witness's testimony that he had "received multiple tips from several sources that [Appellant] was trafficking narcotics." (R. 174–175). The Trial Court then denied Appellant's second motion for a mistrial when the State's witness opened the box containing uncharged, inadmissible drug evidence that was published to the jury. (R. 410–448). The Trial Court also denied Appellant's third motion for a mistrial where a bailiff found a notepad in the jury room after the second day of trial that had the word "guilty" written at the top of the paper. (R. 305–327; R. 601).

After the close of the State's case-in-chief, the Trial Court denied Appellant's motion for a mistrial based on the cumulative effect of the unfair prejudice created by all the errors that occurred during the trial affected the outcome. (R. 525–528).

Traffic Stop, Canine Sniff, and Search

On June 29, 2020, Trooper Gregory Shropshire of the SCDPS conducted a traffic stop on Appellant's vehicle for following another vehicle too closely and failing to maintain his lane. (R. 74, lines 22-24; R. 77, lines 8-15; R. 233, lines 9-11). Trooper Shropshire's bodycam and dashcam recorded the traffic stop. (Court's Exhibits 1 and 2). Prior to initiating the traffic stop, Trooper Shropshire knew that his partner, Trooper Atwood, had received a tip from the Lexington County Sheriff's Department about Appellant being investigated for transporting methamphetamine. Trooper Shropshire had never met Appellant but knew he drove a white Ford F-350, and a license plate reader placed his vehicle in Georgia earlier in that day. (R. 75-76; R. 88, lines 12-16).

During the traffic stop, Trooper Shropshire approached the passenger side of Appellant's vehicle and asked him to exit the vehicle. (R. 88; Court's Exhibit 1). Trooper Shropshire noted that he did not have probable cause to search the vehicle because he "was just stopping the vehicle" and he had to "develop [his] reasonable suspicion once [he] had [Appellant] outside the vehicle." (R. 88-90; Court's Exhibit 1).

While Trooper Shropshire waited for the information to come back from dispatch, he questioned Appellant about where he was coming from and what he was doing before the traffic stop. (Court's Exhibit 1). Appellant told Trooper Shropshire that he was coming from "outside Augusta," Georgia. (Court's Exhibit 2, 4:40-5:00). Appellant responded that he does construction and was in the Augusta area to help a friend do some work on his mom's house. Appellant also explained that they went by the house that day to look at it. (Court's Exhibit 2, 6:00-7:00).

Trooper Atwood subsequently arrived on scene of the traffic stop with his canine, Parker. (R. 93, lines 1-6; Court's Exhibit 1). However, Trooper Atwood and K-9 Parker did not initially

perform a sniff of Appellant's vehicle because he did not have reasonable suspicion of criminal activity:

Solicitor: Were Sergeant Atwood and Parker already on-scene with you?

Trooper Shropshire: They were.

Solicitor: So let me ask you this, Trooper. If Sergeant Atwood and Parker were already on the scene with you, why didn't you go ahead and run them earlier?

Trooper Shropshire: That's not how we operate. We – for one, it's my stop, and then the thing is I need to be able to develop my reasonable suspicion.

Solicitor: So is it fair for me to say then that you want to make sure you're going through the proper steps and do the whole investigation?

Trooper Shropshire: Correct. Don't put the cart before the horse basically.

(R. 85, lines 10 – 86, line 3).

Five minutes into the traffic stop, Trooper Shropshire explained he was still “developing [his] reasonable articulable suspicion.” (R. 101, lines 7-19).

Six minutes into the traffic stop, Trooper Shropshire learned that Appellant's driver's license was clear, and he did not have any warrants. (R. 102–103; Court's Exhibit 1).

Nine minutes into the traffic stop, although Trooper Shropshire wrote Appellant a warning ticket, he continued questioning Appellant about whether he had any contraband in his vehicle. (R. 106, lines 16-21; Court's Exhibit 1).

After about a minute of continued questioning, Trooper Shropshire handed the warning to Appellant but continued to cling to it while he asked for consent to search Appellant's vehicle. (Court's Exhibit 1). When Appellant did not consent to the search, Trooper Shropshire pulled the

warning ticket from Appellant's hand and told him that a narcotics detection canine would be performing a free-air sniff around the exterior of the vehicle. (Court's Exhibit 1). Trooper Shropshire also told Appellant that if the canine did not alert on the vehicle, he would be free to leave. (Court's Exhibit 1).

During the suppression hearing, Trooper Shropshire maintained that he had "reasonable articulable suspicion . . . to ask for consent to search" based on the prior tip from the Lexington County Sheriff's Department and the information obtained during the traffic stop. (R. 87, lines 11-16; R. 109, lines 5-19). However, Trooper Shropshire noted that he did not have probable cause to search the vehicle at that time. (R. 109, lines 5-19).

Trooper Shropshire further explained that he also felt he had reasonable suspicion to extend the stop based on a rapid assessment of Appellant's demeanor during the traffic stop. (R. 80, lines 2-23; R. 88-90; R. 95-105). Trooper Shropshire claimed that Appellant was "more nervous than an average person" throughout the traffic stop. (R. 89, lines 15-24).

On cross-examination during the suppression hearing, Trooper Shropshire was shown his body-worn camera video recording of the traffic stop and asked to describe the nervous behavior. (R. 88-105). Trooper Shropshire described Appellant's behavior as follows:

- [H]e appeared to be very stressed out, had rapid respiration and also a very stiff posture." (R. 89, lines 1-3; Court's Exhibit 1, 0:00-1:21).
- He had rapid, labored breathing, and was fumbling with his paperwork. (R. 95-96; Court's Exhibit 1, 1:21-1:59).
- He was standing with a bladed stance. (R. 96 -97; Court's Exhibit 1, 1:21-1:59).
- He subtly shifted away from Trooper Shropshire. (R. 98-99, lines 17-6; Court's Exhibit 1, 3:10-3:15).
- He "took a swallow" before answering questions while he was "trying to search for the answer." (R. 99, lines 10-23; Court's Exhibit 1, 3:15-4:00).

- He took a deep breath before answering questions while he was “trying to figure out what he was going to say next.” (R. 101-102; Court’s Exhibit 1, 3:15–5:29).

At approximately ten to twelve minutes after the traffic stop, Trooper Atwood deployed K-9 Parker to conduct a sniff of Appellant’s vehicle. (R. 86, lines 4-7). The canine sniff was recorded on Trooper Atwood’s bodycam. (Court’s Exhibit 3, 8:30–12:00). Trooper Atwood and K-9 Parker circled Appellant’s truck multiple times. As they circled, Trooper Atwood constantly tapped different areas of the truck and K-9 Parker jumped onto those areas, putting his paws on the truck and sniffing. K-9 Parker eventually stopped sniffing and sat near the truck’s front bumper. (Court’s Exhibit 3, 8:30–12:00).

Trooper Atwood then informed Appellant that they were going to conduct a search of the truck and subsequently discovered a liquor box containing approximately 7 pounds of suspected methamphetamine in three clear plastic totes during the search of the vehicle. (R. 196–197; Court’s Exhibit 3, 12:35–14:10).

State’s Exhibit 7: Box Containing Drug Evidence

John Gietz, the investigator with the Lexington County Sheriff’s Department, testified at trial that he provided the tip to Trooper Atwood. (R. 186-187). After providing the tip, he essentially orchestrated the traffic stop by directing law enforcement officers, including the South Carolina Highway Patrol, to position themselves along I-20 heading into Lexington County. (R. 187).

Investigator Gietz positioned himself at mile marker 44, and the traffic stop occurred at mile marker 41. (R. 187, lines 19-20; R. 192, lines 4-5). Investigator Gietz arrived after the K-9 sniff, conducted the search of Appellant’s vehicle, and found the suspected methamphetamine in a liquor box. (R. 193-194). Investigator Gietz testified he photographed and field weight tested the seized evidence prior to submitting into evidence. (R. 194, lines 17-21; R. 197-198).

Because of the quantity, Investigator Gietz packaged the seized evidence in a box, “sealed the box and initialed anywhere [he] could find a gap.” (R. 198, lines 3-13). The box was marked as State’s Exhibit 7 and shown to Investigator Gietz for identification purposes only. (R. 198, lines 18-22). He testified that State’s Exhibit 7 was the box he “submitted with [his] signature and the date that it was submitted”. (R. 198–199). The dates on the box were June 29, 2020, and another date when the box was opened for trial. (R. 199).

The Trial Court qualified Margaret Walker, a chemist in the drug lab at the Lexington County Sheriff’s Department, as an expert in general drug analysis or drug identification. (R. 392-393). Ms. Walker testified that she received State’s Exhibit 7 from evidence custodian, Candy Kyzer, and the box had a BEST kit attached to it. (R. 394, line 20 – 395, line 6). She explained that a BEST kit is “a tamperproof bag that narcotics are placed into and then that is turned into evidence for me to complete and for me to do analysis on.” (R. 395, lines 7-12). She also noted that “the box was the BEST kit itself,” because “[t]here was a fair amount of narcotics.” (R. 395, lines 12-15).

Ms. Walker maintained that she checked all the seals Investigator Gietz taped shut on State’s Exhibit 7, confirmed Investigator Gietz’s initials, the date of 6/29/20 appeared on the box six times, and made sure the box was not opened. (R. 396–398). She concluded that the box did not “appear to be tampered with at all.” (R. 396-397). She then took the box to the drug lab and placed it into her vault. (R. 398, lines 19-24). Ms. Walker testified that she subsequently sealed, initialed, and dated the box after testing a sample of the suspected narcotics.

Chain of Custody

After this testimony, Appellant objected when the State moved to admit Exhibit 7 into evidence, arguing that the chain of custody had not been properly established:

We're cutting out like a million steps, Your Honor, and that would include – and obviously there may or may not be any relevance because I don't know what's in the box either, but the short answer, Your Honor, is we haven't traced it from the – from the date and time which this box allegedly was found on the road until it was placed into evidence – into the locker of the evidence room, how it was maintained in the – because there are a number of people who I assume from what I've observed have touched that box and have at least looked at it, opened it up, did things to it, but she can't just jump from A to Z, Your Honor.

(R. 400–401). The Trial Court overruled the objection and found the State had “met it's burden of proof sufficient to establish that the evidence has been in a secured situation since Deputy Gietz stored it on June 29, 2020, and it has been secured since that time.” (R. 405–406). The Trial Court also found that there was “no evidence of tampering.” (R. 406, line 2).

Notably, Defense Counsel renewed his pre-trial motions to suppress outside the presence of jury prior to the opening the box and the following discussion occurred:

Solicitor: Judge, the whole box is already in evidence.

Trial Court: I'm sorry.

Solicitor: The whole box is already in evidence. It's just the drugs.

Trial Court: Right. The – the video shows that there were three plastic smaller boxes that were stacked up. Is that what is in this box?

Solicitor: Yes, Your Honor.

Trial Court: *Anything else?*

Solicitor: No. They don't package evidence that way. They keep –

The Court: Ma'am?

Solicitor: *They keep everything separate. They wouldn't put everything in one box with suspected narcotics. They don't do that.*

Trial Court: *I'm just trying to figure out is there anything in this box that was not seized at the scene on the videotape?*

Solicitor: *There were bags added that she added herself that she will testify to*
—

Trial Court: Surely.

Solicitor: —*but that's it.*”

(R. 408, line 24 – 409, line 21) (emphasis added).

Motion for Mistrial: State's Exhibit 7

Notably, State's Exhibit 7 contained additional inadmissible drug evidence that was presented to the jury. The two items contained in the box were “Item 1.1” and “Item 1.2.” (R. 411, lines 7-11). Item 1.1 was “three plastic containers containing crystal substance.” (R. 411, lines 8-9). Item 1.2 was a “Ziploc bag containing plastic container containing plastic corner bag containing crystal substance.” (R. 411, lines 9-11).

Ms. Walker testified about Item 1.1 and explained the method she used for unpacking and testing the substances inside the containers. (R. 411). When she tested the substances in each of the containers in Item 1.1, she added a label to the test tube to signify which container the sample was taken. (R. 415). Therefore, when she finished testing the contents of all three containers, she had results for Item 1.1(1); Item 1.1(2); and Item 1.1(3), which represented containers one, two, and three respectively. (R. 415). Ms. Walker testified that all three containers tested positive for methamphetamine, and the combined weight was 2,917 grams. (R. 413; R. 416).

After Ms. Walker testified about Item 1.1—and presented all three bags to the jury—the State then asked her about Item 1.2. (R. 418, lines 16-17). She testified that Item 1.2 weighed 5.22 grams and also tested positive for methamphetamine. (R. 418-419). The State then requested that Ms. Walker show the jury Item 1.2, and she complied. (R. 419, lines 23-24).

Defense Counsel moved for a mistrial based on Item 1.2 not being seized during the traffic stop after questioning Ms. Walker about the chain of custody for State's Exhibit 7. (R. 422-449). The State conceded that Item 1.2 was not seized during the traffic stop. (R. 432-433). After

hearing arguments from Defense Counsel and the State, the Trial Court “**regrettably**” denied the motion for a mistrial. (R. 437–443) (emphasis added).

The Trial Court then suppressed Item 1.2 and issued a curative instruction that the jury disregard any testimony related to Item 1.2. (R. 442–448). The Trial Court explained that he could suppress Item 1.2 because State’s Exhibit 7 had not been admitted into evidence (despite that the contents of Exhibit 7 had been shown to the jury and both the State and Defense Counsel’s belief that Exhibit 7 had been admitted into evidence). (R. 443–447). The Trial Court further noted that if he “had ruled into evidence 1.2 . . . that would have been reversible error.” (R. 445–446).

The three containers that made up Item 1.1 were then separately marked as State’s Exhibits 11, 12, and 13, and subsequently admitted into evidence. (R. 447–454). No witness testified about how Item 1.2 ended up in State’s Exhibit 7. (R. 171–525).

Motion for Mistrial: Rule 404(b) Inadmissible Propensity Evidence

The State’s *first* witness, Investigator Gietz, testified that he had “received multiple tips from several sources that [Appellant] was trafficking narcotics.” (R. 174, lines 4-5). The Trial Court interjected, “Wait. Wait. Wait. Wait. Wait.” (R. 174, line 6). Defense Counsel then moved for a mistrial, arguing that the witness was “bringing up the fact that he is guilty of other offenses for which he’s not being tried.” (R. 174–175). After performing a Rule 404(b) analysis, the Trial Court denied the motion and gave the following curative instruction to the jury:

You are to disregard any testimony offered by the investigator that goes beyond the scope of this case when it comes to the investigation of the defendant in this particular case. There’s a – he’s on trial for one offense and it’s included in the indictment. You’re to disregard any testimony regarding the scope of this investigation beyond that particular event.

(R. 175-179; R. 179, lines 4-10).

Motion for Mistrial: Juror Notepad (“Guilty”)

After the second day of trial, a bailiff discovered a notepad on the jury room table that had the word “**guilty**” written at the top of the paper. (R. 305, lines 8-17; R. 601) (emphasis added). Defense Counsel noted his concern that questioning the jurors individually potentially creates unfair prejudice to Appellant. The Trial Court ultimately questioned the jurors individually on the witness stand about the note and determined the following:

- Juror 226 wrote the note, including the word “guilty”. (R. 325–326).
- The following jurors saw the note: 165, 53, 20.
- Juror 29 saw a “Hispanic male” and “younger black male” writing but did not see the contents of their writings.
- Juror 211 saw Juror 226 doodling, but did not see the contents of the doodling.
- The following jurors did not see the note: 24, 160, 184, 186, 209, 65, 254, 137.

(R. 305-357). Consequently, the Trial Court excused Juror 226. (R. 327, lines 11-20).

Motion for a New Trial: Cumulative Error

After the close of the State’s case-in-chief, Appellant renewed the previous motions and requested a mistrial based on the cumulative effect this unfair prejudice had on Appellant’s right to a fair trial. (R. 527). After the jury verdict, the Trial Court denied Appellant’s motion for a new trial and the motions for a mistrial. (R. 527–528; R. 588–589).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO SUPPRESS THE DRUG EVIDENCE WHEN THE CONTINUED DETENTION OF APPELLANT EXCEEDED THE SCOPE OF THE TRAFFIC STOP BECAUSE THE OFFICER HAD ISSUED A WARNING TICKET AND DID NOT HAVE REASONABLE SUSPICION OF ILLEGAL ACTIVITY AND DID NOT HAVE APPELLANT'S CONSENT TO SEARCH THE VEHICLE.

Standard of Review

“[A]ppellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment involves a two-step analysis. This dual inquiry means [the appellate court] review[s] the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support, but the ultimate legal conclusion . . . is a question of law subject to *de novo* review.” *State v. Frasier*, 437 S.C. 625, 633, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022).

Law

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