**RECEIVED**

**Sep 18 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
The Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001288

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN DANIEL BROWN,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main St.  
Lexington, SC 29072  
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

You are to disregard any testimony offered by the investigator that goes beyond the scope of this case when it comes to the investigation of the defendant

in this particular case. There's a – he's on trial for one offense and it's included in the indictment. You're to disregard any testimony regarding the scope of this investigation beyond that particular event.

(R. 178-179). There was no objection to the sufficiency of the curative instruction and is therefore not preserved for appellate review. However, even if preserved the trial court did not err in denying the motion for a mistrial.

Appellant argues that a mistrial should have been granted because this was inadmissible propensity evidence, however the statement made by Gietz would not rise to evidence of bad acts. In State v. Thompson, this court held that a police officer's single reference to warrants that existed against the defendant did not constitute sufficient prejudice to justify a mistrial. State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 575 S.E.2d 77 (Ct. App. 2003). "[A] vague reference to a defendant's prior criminal record is not sufficient to justify a mistrial where there is no attempt by the State to introduce evidence that the accused has been convicted of other crimes." Thompson at 561, 575 S.E.2d at 82; See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999) (determining law enforcement agent's isolated testimony that he compared defendant's fingerprints with fingerprint card agency had on record was not so prejudicial to defendant as to warrant mistrial because it was questionable whether the jury drew a connection between a fingerprint card and defendant's prior criminal activity). Further in State v. Robinson, the court emphasized that even if the testimony created the inference in the jury's mind that the accused had committed another crime, the state never attempted to prove the accused had been convicted of some other crime.

In this case, Gietz does not even reference any other criminal activity. He states "we received multiple tips from several sources that he was trafficking narcotics." (R. 174). He doesn't reference different time periods or different drugs and therefore while one may infer

those multiple tips means multiple drugs or offenses, on its face the statement means that they received multiple tips regarding this specific charge of trafficking methamphetamine.

Further, the trial judge gave a curative instruction immediately after and trial counsel did not object to the sufficiency of the curative instruction. “Generally, a curative instruction is deemed to have cured any alleged error.” State v. White, 371 S.C. 439, 445, 639 S.E.2d 160, 163 (Ct. App. 2006). “As the law assumes a curative instruction will remedy an error, failure to accept such a charge when offered, or failure to object to the sufficiency of that charge, renders the issue waived and unpreserved for appellate review.” State v. Smith, 411 S.C. 161,169, 767 S.E.2d 212, 216 (Ct. App. 2014). This statement is not sufficient to justify a mistrial and therefore the trial judge did not err in denying the motion for a mistrial.

#### **A. Inadmissible Drug Evidence**

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in refusing to grant a mistrial when the State presented inadmissible drug evidence to the jury. Because of the quantity of methamphetamine found in Appellant’s vehicle, Gietz packaged the seized evidence in a box, sealed it and initialed anywhere he could find a gap. (R. 198). The box was marked as State’s Exhibit 7 and shown to Gietz for identification purposes only. (R. 198). He testified that State’s Exhibit 7 was the box he submitted with his signature and date it was submitted. (R. 198-199). The dates on the box were June 29, 2020, and another when the box was opened for trial. (R. 199).

Margaret Walker, an expert in chemical analysis testified at trial. Walker testified that she received State’s Exhibit 7 from evidence custodian, Candy Kyzer. (R. 394). Walker testified that she checked all of the seals Gietz taped shut on State’s Exhibit 7, confirmed his initials and the date and made sure the box was not opened. (R. 396-398). She concluded that the box did not “appear to be tampered with at all.” (R. 396-397). She testified that she opened the box and did

testing on the contents. (R. 399). As Walker was about to testify to what was in the box trial counsel requested a motion outside the presence of the jury and the following conversation took place:

**Trial Counsel:** Judge, obviously we had a motion dealing with the search of the vehicle, which your Honor has already ruled on. I don't know what's inside that box other than there is a box and there may, indeed, be evidence which was secured from the truck inside that, as well as obviously there's gonna be some sort of testimony in regards to what the analysis of those items are.

**The Court:** Right.

**Trial Counsel:** So, Your Honor, at this time I want to make sure that the record revealed that we renewed our motions in regards to the search—

**The Court:** Right.

**Trial Counsel:** --so that it would continue to—and I don't know if I did—I did it this early time because I don't know what's in that box and if she's seeking to introduce something that's in that box, I didn't want to—the reason I sent the jury out was as I talked about the search, which Your Honor's already ruled on.

**The Court:** All right.

**The State:** Judge, the whole box is already in evidence.

**The Court:** I'm sorry?

**The State:** The whole box is already in evidence. It's just the drugs.

**The Court:** Right. The—the video shows that there were three plastic smaller boxes that were stacked up. Is that what is in this box?

**The State:** Yes, Your Honor.

**The Court:** Anything else?

**The State:** No. They don't package evidence that way. They keep—

**The Court:** Ma'am?

**The State:** They keep everything separate. They wouldn't put everything in one box with suspected narcotics. They don't do that.

**The Court:** I'm just trying to figure out is there anything in this box that was not seized at the scene on the videotape?

**The State:** There are bags added that she added herself that she will testify to—

**The Court:** Surely.

**The State:** —but that's it.

**The Court:** All right. Mr. Williams, does that address your concern or is there something else that we need to—

**Trial Counsel:** No, sir. I just wanted to make sure that I was protected in terms of the introduction of any evidence dealing with the search by continuing the objection before these items get placed into evidence in the trial itself.

(R. 408-410). Walker then proceeded to testify what was in the box stating that there was item 1.1, three plastic containers containing a crystal substance, and item 1.2, a Ziploc bag containing a crystal substance. (R. 411). She testified to the process of measuring and testing the substance ultimately testifying that item 1.1 contained 2,917 grams of methamphetamine. (R. 411-416). Walker was then asked about item 1.2 and she testified that it was a Ziploc bag containing 5.22 grams of methamphetamine. (R. 418-422). No objection was made at that time.

On cross examination trial counsel was going through the evidence that Walker discussed and when he got to 1.2 trial counsel stated he had a matter to take up outside the presence of the jury. (R. 427). The trial judge then questioned Walker about the items to get clarification:

**The Court:** My understanding was that the 1.1 item is the three plastic containers, right?

**The Witness:** Yes, sir.

**The Court:** And then you took each of those three plastic containers and gave them a sub number, 1.1, 1 in parentheses, 2 in parentheses and 3 in parentheses?

**The Witness:** Yes, sir.

**The Court:** So is it my understanding then that accounts for the—the drugs that are in the three plastic containers?

**The Witness:** For Item 1.1, yes.

**The Court:** That's right. Item 1.1 is the three plastic containers?

**The Witness:** Yes, sir.

**The Court:** And the drugs that are in them?

**The Witness:** Yes.

**The Court:** And 1.1(1) and 1.1(2) and 1.1(3) is the individualized contents of each of those three containers?

**The Witness:** Yes, sir.

**The Court:** All right. So what then is 1.2 with the 5.22 grams?

**The Witness:** That is the Ziploc bag containing plastic container containing plastic corner bag containing crystal substance.

**The Court:** Okay. Not the three bags that are in the 1.1? something different?

**The Witness:** Yes, sir.

(R. 428-429). The trial judge then sent the jury to the jury room and trial counsel moved for a mistrial based on evidence that was shown to the jury that was not found in Appellant's vehicle. (R. 432).

The State argued that the remedy was not a mistrial, but a suppression of item 1.2. (R. 433). The Court's response was that that item 7 was just for identification purposes and had not been moved into evidence and that the appropriate remedy would be to not allow the item 1.2 into evidence because it doesn't disturb the validity of the other evidence in the three plastic containers. (R. 433-434). Trial Counsel argued that because the jury heard all the testimony about item 1.2 that it should be a mistrial. (R. 434-437). In denying the motion for mistrial the trial judge stated:

The motion has been made for a mistrial. I'll tell you what we all know in this courtroom about the law in that regard. Our Court has held that the granting of a mistrial is an extreme measure that should be taken only when an incident is so grievous that the prejudicial impact can be removed no other way. That's State versus Tisdale, 338 South Carolina 607.

A mistrial should not be granted unless absolutely necessary. Defendant must show error and resulting prejudice. State versus Council, C-O-U-N-C-I-L, 335 South Carolina 1. And, of course, it's the judge's discretion which controls.

What we're talking about in this case is improperly admitted evidence or improperly proffered evidence sought to be admitted. It is not in evidence yet. State's 7 has been offered for identification and has not been introduced into evidence—has not been admitted into evidence I should say.

I am struggling with two separate events. First of all, there's the testimony early on by Inspector Gietz about the fact that the defendant was under investigation and had been under for some other—for some time. There was a reference for more than in this event, which we have dealt with earlier.

Our caselaw creates a bar that it is extremely difficult to meet in order to get a mistrial and I and other trial judges are compelled by the law as it has been handed to us to try to avoid a mistrial if we possibly can and still- and still ensure a fair trial.

The prior reference of other drug activity has been addressed in other cases, State versus Council again, in which there was some reference to the defendant's prior criminal record, but the State didn't make any attempt to introduce any other evidence of any other crimes in that regard. A single reference to warrants or other charges against the defendant has been held insufficient to grant a mistrial. That's State versus Harris, 340 South Carolina 59.

The more troublesome case that we're confronted with right now is that evidence, that improperly offered evidence in this regard, and I need not repeat again which both sides have alluded to during the argument. Here is evidence that by agreement was not going to be offered in this particular case. Here is evidence that insofar as the arrest is concerned and the circumstances surrounding the arrest, and all of the motions that we took care of in regard to that, was not even mentioned. The photographs on the roadside, the nature of the stop, the nature of the dog search, all of those things, the photographs, the videos that were taken, talked about three plastic containers full of methamphetamine. That's all that Investigator Gietz talked about. That's all that the troopers talked about. That's all there was.

And then in the course of Ms. Walker's testimony, who was not present obviously for the other and didn't know the background, all she knew is what she had been asked to analyze, and she did and here it is, and she went into great detail that I don't need to belabor any further and having – and having completed her report. And very specifically. Even I understood it. The 1.1 and the 1.1(1), (2) and (3), I understood that. And then there comes in this 1.2. I was trying to figure out what that was. I hadn't heard about that. Mr. Williams knew about it or he thought he knew about it. He thought he knew what they were talking about and he tried to keep it out. He insisted that he wanted the chain to be completed. He wanted to know what was in the box. He knew exactly what—what it could have been. He fought to keep it out. I would have thought at that time if I were on the other side and realized now wait a minute, we weren't supposed to be trying this case on anything but the—but the three plastic containers, but the prosecution forges ahead right through the stop sign, right through the speed bumps and everything else, right onto this 1.2 Ziploc bag containing crystal, weighed separate, tested, 5.22 grams. I was trying to figure out how that factored into the weight that had been given of the three plastic bags and I – I didn't know because I didn't know what it was until we get to the flower pot or whatever it was that says this is—this is something else and that of course, immediately gave rise to the mistrial.

Now—now I'm confronted with what is obviously overreaching and not accidental. Not to say that it was intentional from the standpoint of luring somebody into a trap in this regard, but to say for some reason, and I don't understand why, the agreement not to bring this very item into evidence was forgotten, and what do I do with it?

Candidly, folks, I wanted to declare a mistrial. I still want to declare a mistrial, but a trial judge doesn't get to do whatever he wants to do just because he wants to do it. I'm bound by the law and our courts have told me in cases even more severe than this that a mistrial should not be granted.

State v. Howard at 269 South Carolina 481.

Mr. Howard was on trial for the crime of murder and his co-defendant said during the course of the trial that Howard had committed another murder and the statement was made twice and the Supreme Court said that did not warrant a mistrial when the judge admonished the jury to disregard anything about that and so any error in failing to grant a mistrial in that case was harmless error. Of

course, as the trial judge I don't like to commit any error, even a harmless error, but that requires the State to review the—I mean, the Supreme Court to review the entire record to find out.

A mistrial should not be ordered in every case where incompetent evidence is received and later stricken out. An instruction to disregard objectionable evidence usually cures any error in its admission. The defendant has to show both error and resulting prejudice. *State versus Johnson*, 334 South Carolina 78.

*State versus Moses*, 390 South Carolina 502, when in the course of a trial incompetent statements of witnesses are brought in either from accident or when they might reasonable though erroneously be thought by counsel to be competent, the only remedy that the Court can afford is to grant a motion to strike and instruct the jury to disregard the testimony. The injury resulting from a jury having heard incompetent testimony is regrettable, but the trial cannot be stopped because of such accidents and mistakes likely to occur.

That's the law that I'm confronted with in the face of my gut reaction to grant a mistrial in this case. I don't get to rule on the basis of what my—pardon my French—gut reaction happens to be. I'm bound by the law.

And, Ms. Oppenheimer and Mr. Smith, you-all are the beneficiaries of the law in this regard, and you should be. The State should be. Whoever the law benefits under the law I suppose it should be because that's the way the law is intended to be, and so the motion to grant a mistrial is respectfully, yet regrettably, denied.

(R. 437-442). Further, item 1.2 was suppressed, and a curative instruction was given to the jury again with no objection to the sufficiency of the instruction by trial counsel. (R. 442-448).

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